

City Research Online

City, University of London Institutional Repository

Citation: Gould, D. J., Moralejo, D., Drey, N. & Chudleigh, J. H. (2011). Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews(8), doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005186.pub3

This is the unspecified version of the paper.

This version of the publication may differ from the final published version.

Permanent repository link: https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/360/

Link to published version: https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD005186.pub3

Copyright: City Research Online aims to make research outputs of City, University of London available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the author(s) and/or copyright holders. URLs from City Research Online may be freely distributed and linked to.

Reuse: Copies of full items can be used for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge. Provided that the authors, title and full bibliographic details are credited, a hyperlink and/or URL is given for the original metadata page and the content is not changed in any way.

 City Research Online:
 http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/
 publications@city.ac.uk

Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care (Review)

Gould DJ, Moralejo D, Drey N, Chudleigh JH



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2011, Issue 8

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	5
DISCUSSION	11
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	12
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	12
REFERENCES	13
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	20
DATA AND ANALYSES	31
APPENDICES	31
WHAT'S NEW	32
HISTORY	33
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	33
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	33
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	33
INDEX TERMS	34

[Intervention Review]

Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care

Dinah J Gould¹, Donna Moralejo², Nicholas Drey¹, Jane H Chudleigh³

¹Adult Nursing Department, School of Community and Health Sciences, City University, London, UK. ²School of Nursing, Memorial University, St. John's, Canada. ³Portex Unit, ICH/GOSH, London, UK

Contact address: Dinah J Gould, Adult Nursing Department, School of Community and Health Sciences, City University, 24 Chiswell Street, London, EC1 4TY, UK. d.gould@city.ac.uk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group. **Publication status and date:** Edited (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 8, 2011. **Review content assessed as up-to-date:** 2 August 2010.

Citation: Gould DJ, Moralejo D, Drey N, Chudleigh JH. Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2010, Issue 9. Art. No.: CD005186. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005186.pub3.

Copyright © 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Health care-associated infection is a major cause of morbidity and mortality. Hand hygiene is regarded as an effective preventive measure.

Objectives

To update the review done in 2007, to assess the short and longer-term success of strategies to improve hand hygiene compliance and to determine whether a sustained increase in hand hygiene compliance can reduce rates of health care-associated infection.

Search strategy

We conducted electronic searches of: the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials; the Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group specialised register of trials; MEDLINE; PubMed; EMBASE; CINAHL; and the BNI. Originally searched to July 2006, for the update databases were searched from August 2006 until November 2009.

Selection criteria

Randomised controlled trials, controlled clinical trials, controlled before and after studies, and interrupted time series analyses meeting explicit entry and quality criteria used by the Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group were eligible for inclusion. Studies reporting indicators of hand hygiene compliance and proxy indicators such as product use were considered. Self-reported data were not considered a valid measure of compliance. Studies to promote hand hygiene compliance as part of a care bundle approach were included, providing data relating specifically to hand hygiene were presented separately. Studies were excluded if hand hygiene was assessed in simulations, non-clinical settings or the operating theatre setting.

Data collection and analysis

Two reviewers independently extracted data and assessed data quality.

Main results

Four studies met the criteria for the review: two from the original review and two from the update. Two studies evaluated simple education initiatives, one using a randomized clinical trial design and the other a controlled before and after design. Both measured hand hygiene compliance by direct observation. The other two studies were both interrupted times series studies. One study presented

three separate interventions within the same paper: simple substitutions of product and two multifaceted campaigns, one of which included involving practitioners in making decisions about choice of hand hygiene products and the components of the hand hygiene program. The other study also presented two separate multifaceted campaigns, one of which involved application of social marketing theory. In these two studies follow-up data collection continued beyond 12 months, and a proxy measure of hand hygiene compliance (product use) was recorded. Microbiological data were recorded in one study. Hand hygiene compliance increased for one of the studies where it was measured by direct observation, but the results from the other study were not conclusive. Product use increased in the two studies in which it was reported, with inconsistent results reported for one initiative. MRSA incidence decreased in the one study reporting microbiological data.

Authors' conclusions

The quality of intervention studies intended to increase hand hygiene compliance remains disappointing. Although multifaceted campaigns with social marketing or staff involvement appear to have an effect, there is insufficient evidence to draw a firm conclusion. There remains an urgent need to undertake methodologically robust research to explore the effectiveness of soundly designed and implemented interventions to increase hand hygiene compliance.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Methods to improve healthcare worker hand hygiene to decrease infection in hospitals

Patients in hospital, nursing homes and long-term care facilities are at high risk of developing infections that they did not have before admission. Most healthcare-associated infections are spread by direct contact, especially via the hands of healthcare workers. Traditionally, hand hygiene, such as washing hands before and after touching patients, has been considered the single most important way of reducing infections. Increasingly, the use of alcohol-based hand rub is used alongside or in replacement of traditional washing with soap and water. However, compliance with hand hygiene is poor.

This updated review sought to establish whether there are effective strategies to improve hand hygiene compliance, whether such strategies are effective over short or longer term and whether increased compliance reduces healthcare-associated infections.

There were four studies, two from the original review in 2007 and two from the update, which assessed the success of campaigns to improve hand hygiene compliance. Follow-up continued for longer than 12 months in two of the studies, but none of the studies was of high quality. Success in improving hand hygiene was inconsistent among the four studies.

There is still not enough evidence to be certain what strategies improve hand hygiene compliance. Introducing alcohol-based hand rub accompanied by education/training is not enough, while using multiple strategies, including involvement of staff in planning activities or applying social marketing strategies, may be helpful. More research is needed.

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

In England, 8.2% of patients admitted to hospital develop healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) (Hospital Infection Society 2007). HAIs cause 5,000 deaths and cost £930 million annually (National Audit Office 1998). In the United States (US), an estimated 5% of patients develop HAIs, at a cost of 4.5 billion USD per year. This translates to an estimated two million cases of HAIs per annum, accounting for nearly 100,000 deaths (Klevens 2007). In Canada, an estimated 220,000 HAIs occur each year, with 8,000 related deaths (Zoutman 2003). Infection control experts everywhere are working to identify and correct factors that contribute to these rates. Although hand hygiene has long been regarded as the most effective preventive measure (Teare 1999), numerous studies over the past few decades have demonstrated that compliance with hand hygiene recommendations is poor and interventions are not effective long term.

Naikoba 2001 systematically reviewed 21 studies published before the year 2000. They classified 17 studies as uncontrolled trials, and of these, 15 took place in intensive care units (ICUs). Numer-

ous different interventions and combinations of interventions to improve hand hygiene were examined. The reviewers concluded that multifaceted approaches promoted hand hygiene compliance more effectively than approaches involving a single type of intervention. Additionally, education with written information, reminders and continuous feedback on performance were more useful than the other interventions assessed, such as automated sinks or provision of moisturised soaps. However, more recently published work has indicated that multifaceted interventions are not likely to be more successful than single interventions in changing practice (Grimshaw 2004) and that audit with feedback has only a modest effect on improving practice (Jamtvedt 2006).

Naikoba 2001 noted multiple limitations of the studies, including small sample sizes, short duration of follow-up, lack of or inappropriate control groups, lack of generalisability from the ICU to other settings, and emphasis on frequency of hand hygiene as an outcome measure rather than microbiological data. One key limitation of the review was that it included studies that had weak designs for making causal inferences about the effects of interventions (mainly uncontrolled before and after studies). Another disadvantage is the failure of the authors to consider variables that might influence rates of HAIs. Seasonal variations are particularly likely to influence outcome measures in studies that examine hand hygiene. For example, bacterial counts are affected by seasonal factors such as humidity. Hand hygiene compliance is likely to be influenced by factors such as staffing levels and replacement of the usual staff by agency nurses or float staff at times such as national holidays or in the event of staff sickness.

Description of the intervention

In the years since the systematic review by Naikoba 2001, the topic of hand hygiene has received increasing attention in the UK, Europe, North America and Australia. The public is alarmed by the high incidence of HAIs and health providers must now demonstrate the effectiveness of infection control policies. Pittet 2000 published the results of a Swiss initiative that used an uncontrolled before and after design to demonstrate that a hospitalwide poster campaign, combined with performance feedback and alcohol-based hand rub placed at every bedside, led to sustained improvement in hand hygiene for nursing but not medical staff, as well as reduction in HAIs and methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) transmission. Follow-up data published independently revealed continuing success (Hugonnet 2002). Since then, a number of countries have implemented widespread hand hygiene campaigns, with little evidence to base decisions about which interventions are the most effective.

Why it is important to do this review

In 2007, we published a systematic review of interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care. We considered controlled trials and interrupted time series analyses published between 1980 and July 2006. Of the 49 studies that were potentially eligible, only two met the criteria for inclusion. Both examined education as a single intervention. Huang 2002 found a significant increase in hand hygiene compliance four months post-intervention, whereas Gould 1997 found no difference three months post-intervention. Studies conducted between 2001 and 2006 (after Naikoba 2001), shared the same limitations in study design as those conducted earlier. Sample sizes remained small and most lacked either a suitable comparison group or any control group at all. Thus, in 2007, because of a lack of high quality evidence, we were unable to draw a conclusion about effectiveness of interventions to promote hand hygiene.

Given the continued interest in improving hand hygiene as a preventive strategy, and the publication of a large number of new studies since July 2006, a reappraisal of available evidence is warranted. The purpose of our updated review was to identify all studies investigating the effectiveness of interventions intended to increase hand hygiene compliance short and longer-term, and to determine the success of these interventions in terms of hand hygiene compliance and subsequent effect on rates of HAIs.

OBJECTIVES

1. To assess the short and long term success of strategies to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care.

2. To determine whether a sustained increase in hand hygiene compliance can reduce rates of health care-associated infection.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We considered randomised controlled trials (RCTs), controlled clinical trials (CCTs), controlled before and after studies (CBAs) and interrupted time series analyses (ITSs) meeting explicit entry and quality criteria used by the Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group (EPOC). Studies reporting proxy indicators of hand hygiene compliance, for example increased use of soap or alcohol-based hand rub, were considered. To be eligible for review, ITS studies had to demonstrate a clearly defined point in time when the intervention occurred, and had to include at least three data collection points before and after the intervention to

Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

take into account the influence of secular trends and the auto-correlation among measurements repeatedly taken over time (Ramsay 2003). All studies also had to have objective measurements of the outcome of interest, as well as relevant and interpretable data presented or obtainable.

Types of participants

We considered studies where the participants or target groups were nurses, doctors and other allied health professionals (except operating theatre staff) in any hospital or community setting, in any country. Studies concentrating on operating theatre staff were excluded because specific hand hygiene techniques are used in this setting.

Types of interventions

We considered any intervention intended to improve compliance with hand hygiene using aqueous solutions and/or alcohol based products. For example, we considered education, audit with performance feedback, health promotion, and variations in availability and type of products used for hand hygiene. Studies of interventions to promote hand hygiene compliance were potentially eligible regardless of whether the intervention occurred in outbreak or non-outbreak situations. Studies to promote compliance with universal or infection control precautions were considered for inclusion, providing data relating specifically to hand hygiene were presented separately. Similarly, studies to promote hand hygiene compliance as part of a care bundle approach were eligible, providing data relating specifically to hand hygiene or a proxy measurement for hand hygiene were presented separately. Studies were excluded if hand hygiene was assessed in simulations or artificial settings outside the clinical environment.

Types of outcome measures

Our primary outcome of interest was:

• Rates of observed hand hygiene compliance and/or a proxy indicator of hand washing compliance (e.g. increased use of hand washing products).

Healthcare workers' perceptions of their hand hygiene practices was not considered a valid measure of compliance because there is evidence that self reports are not accurate (Haas 2007).

The following secondary outcomes of interest were also considered in our review, provided that hand hygiene was also reported:

- Reduction in healthcare-associated infection.
- Reduction in colonisation rates by clinically significant nosocomial pathogens.

Search methods for identification of studies

See: Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group methods used in reviews (Ballini 2010).

Electronic searches

The following electronic databases were searched, from the identified starting date as relevant up to July 2006 for the initial review, and from August 2006 up to November 2009 for the update:

 a) The EPOC Register (and the database of studies awaiting assessment) (see SPECIALISED REGISTER under GROUP DETAILS);

b) The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CEN-TRAL);

c) Bibliographic databases: MEDLINE (from 1980), EMBASE (from 1990), CINAHL (from 1982), and the British Nursing Index (from 1985).

Electronic databases were searched using a strategy incorporating the methodological component of the EPOC search strategy combined with selected MeSH terms and free text terms relating to hand hygiene. The MEDLINE search strategy described below was translated into the other databases using the appropriate controlled vocabulary as applicable (see Appendix A). We did not use language restrictions.

The search strategy used in the original review, which did not specify designs, can be found in Appendix A. An additional search which used broad terms related to infection, also described in Appendix A, did not reveal any additional studies related to interventions to promote hand hygiene.

Search strategy:

1 Handwashing/

2 (hand antisepsis or handwash\$ or hand wash\$ or hand disinfection or hand hygiene or surgical scrub\$).tw.

- 3 1 or 2
- 4 exp Hand/
- 5 exp Sterilization/
- 6 4 and 5
- 7 3 or 6
- 8 randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 9 controlled clinical trial.pt.
- 10 intervention studies/
- 11 experiment\$.tw.
- 12 (time adj series).tw.
- 13 (pre test or pretest or (posttest or post test)).tw.
- 14 random allocation/
- 15 impact.tw.
- 16 intervention?.tw.
- 17 chang\$.tw.
- 18 evaluation studies/
- 19 evaluat\$.tw.
- 20 effect?.tw.
- 21 comparative study/

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care (Review)

- 22 animal/
- 23 human/
- 24 22 not 23
- 25 or/8-21
- 26 25 not 24
- 27 7 and 26
- 28 27
- 29 limit 28 to yr="2005 -Current"
- 30 from 29 keep 1

Searching other resources

Additional search strategies, in both review periods, were as follows:

a) Hand searching: For the original review, we hand-searched the following high-yield journals for the period 1985-July 2006: British Medical Journal; Journal of Hospital Infection; American Journal of Infection Control, Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology. We similarly hand searched the conference proceedings from the UK Hospital Infection Society and the Infection Prevention Society (previously the Infection Control Nurses' Association). For the updated review, we hand-searched, for the period August 2006 to November 2009, the same journals and conference proceedings as well as the Canadian Journal of Infection Control. Abstracts for the conferences of the American Association for Professionals in Infection Control and Epidemiology (APIC), the Society for Healthcare Epidemiology in America (SHEA) and the Community and Hospital Infection Control Association (CHICA-Canada) were included in the journals searched.

b) Reference lists of all papers and relevant reviews identified were reviewed to identify any additional references.

c) Where relevant, authors of papers were contacted regarding any further published or unpublished work.

d) Colleagues from the professional organizations: WHO, the National Patient Safety Agency, and pharmaceutical companies manufacturing hand hygiene products were contacted to ask if they were aware of any unpublished work within the field.

e) Authors of other reviews in the field of effective professional practice were contacted regarding relevant studies of which they might be aware.

f) ISI Web of Science was searched for relevant papers.

g) The Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effectiveness (DARE) was searched for related reviews.

Selection of studies

In the initial review, DJG and JC screened the results of searches to identify potentially relevant papers. Two reviewers (DJG and JC or ND) independently selected the studies to be included in the review. For the update, DJG, ND and DM screened the results of searches to identify potentially relevant papers. Two reviewers (DJG and ND or DM) independently selected the studies to be included in the review.

Data extraction and management

Data from each paper were abstracted independently by two reviewers (DJG and JC, ND or DM in the initial review, and DJG and ND or DM in the update) using the standard EPOC checklist (Ballini 2010). Data abstraction was checked and discrepancies were resolved through discussion by the relevant two reviewers. ND or DM acted as arbitrator for any unresolved difficulties. DJG was included in the authorship of one paper, which was reviewed by JC and ND in the initial review.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

We used The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias on nine standard criteria: adequate allocation sequence generation, concealment of allocation, similar baseline outcome measures, similar baseline characteristics, adequately addressed incomplete outcome data, adequate prevention of knowledge of allocated interventions, adequate protection against contamination, free from selective reporting, and free of other risk of bias. We used three additional criteria specified by EPOC for ITS studies (Ballini 2010): intervention independent of other changes, shape of the intervention pre-specified, and intervention unlikely to affect data collection.

Data synthesis

Given the substantial heterogeneity of interventions and methods across studies, it was not sensible to use meta-analysis to pool results. Instead, we present the results of studies in tabular form and make a qualitative assessment of the effects of studies, based on quality. We report the following data (where available): pre-intervention study and control data and statistical significance across groups, absolute and percentage improvement.

RESULTS

Description of studies

Data collection and analysis

The review was conducted using standard EPOC methods (Ballini 2010).

See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies.

Results of the search

In the initial review, once opinion pieces, general reviews and non-intervention studies were excluded, 49 studies, reported in 49 papers and one thesis, appeared potentially eligible for review and were read in detail. The studies evaluated a wide variety of interventions, with cursory descriptions of the intervention(s) in a number of reports. Eleven of the studies involved a single intervention that featured education or training related to hand hygiene, usually combining formal teaching with practical demonstrations (Conly 1989; Berg 1995; Diekema 1995; Dorsey 1996; Gould 1997; Baker 1998; Moongtui 1999; Huang 2002; Shaw 2003; Panhotra 2004; Prieto 2005). Hand hygiene was often covered with other topics such as universal precautions or epidemiology. Dubbert 1990 combined education with audit and feedback, while six studies looked at audit and feedback alone (Raju 1991; Van de Mortel 1995; Tibbals 1996; Van de Mortel 2000; Bittner 2002; Salemi 2002). Seven studies involved single interventions related to introduction of a new hand hygiene product such as emollient soap (Mayer 1986) or alcoholbased hand rub (Graham 1990; Maury 2000; Muto 2000; Earl 2001; Colombo 2002; Brown 2003). Marena 2002 compared plain soap and an antimicrobial solution, in combination with education. Other single interventions studied were use of visual feedback of organisms from hand cultures (Moore 1980), gowns (Donowitz 1986), labeled teddy bear (Hughes 1986), labels on ventilators (Khatib 1999), reminders from patients (McGuckin 1999; McGuckin 2004), posters (Thomas 2005), voice prompts (Swoboda 2004), automated sink (Larson 1991), and move to a new hospital (Whitby 2004). The remaining studies involved multidimensional campaigns featuring different combinations of an educational program, a new product, audit and performance feedback, written information and written reminders such as posters or labels. Theoretical frameworks were only clearly articulated for two studies reported (Larson 2000; Creedon 2005).

In the update, the search yielded 808 possible articles. Once opinion pieces, general reviews and non-intervention studies were excluded, 84 papers published after July 2006 appeared potentially eligible for review and were read in detail. The interventions described in most of the studies have been heavily influenced by the work of Pittet 2000 in Geneva and feature the introduction of alcohol-based hand rub coupled with education/training, performance feedback (usually in written form) and posters. An increasing number of studies report care bundle approaches to improving infection prevention that extend over long periods (up to six years) of which hand hygiene forms only one facet. Descriptions of the interventions in the care bundle studies were generally poor, but were a little better described in the other studies found in the update that focused on hand hygiene as the sole intervention compared to the descriptions found in the studies considered in the original review. There was increased use of infection rates (usually routinely reported surveillance data) in the recent studies compared to the first review and an increase in the number of studies

using product use as a proxy measure for hand hygiene as well, or instead of, direct observation.

Included studies

Two studies were included in the initial review and two studies were added in this update. A brief summary of the studies can be found in the Characteristics of included studies.

In their RCT Huang 2002 recruited 100 nurses who were then randomised into experimental and control groups. The method used for random allocation to group was not specified. They did not specify the number of nurses able to attend the educational intervention, but collected data from 49 of 50 assigned to each group. Data collection from 98 nurses was conducted by direct observation undertaken by three observers for 30 minutes each before the intervention and for four months afterwards. The observers were the investigators; it was not specified as to whether they were blinded to group allocation nor were details of interrater reliability testing for the three data collectors supplied. The source of the behaviour observation checklist to assess adherence to universal precautions was not identified, though the investigators were reported to be well trained in universal precautions.

The unit of analysis was the individual nurse. The outcome measure, percent of nurses who performed hand hygiene during the 30 minutes of observation, was not clearly described in terms of whether hand hygiene was performed each time it was required or if it was just performed at any time during the observation period. This outcome is different from that assessed in the majority of hand hygiene studies, for example, proportion of opportunities for hand hygiene where hand hygiene is performed. It is possible that actual adherence was overestimated, although this would apply equally to both groups and not affect the difference between the groups. The possibility of a Hawthorne Effect was not discussed; if it existed it would lead to an overestimation of effect but not affect the difference between groups. Microbiologicallydefined outcome measures were not used.

Gould 1997 reported a CBA conducted in four matched surgical wards from the same hospital. Two wards were randomly selected to serve as experimental units, and then two matched wards were selected as controls. Nurses were recruited from the wards, 25 per group, with similar high dropout rates in each group; complete data were obtained from 16 nurses from the experimental group and 15 nurses from the control group. The characteristics of participants in each group were not described, but the wards were similar in structure. Gould 1997 were obliged to cancel half of their teaching sessions because the wards were too busy, resulting in the failure of some nurses to receive all of the intended input. This may have led to dilution of effect. The sample size was small, and the study had limited power for detecting a significant difference.

Each nurse was observed continuously for two hours by the same observer, who was blinded to group allocation. The observation

checklist had been previously validated. The outcome measure was number of hand washes performed after activities judged likely to offer a risk of cross-infection ('essential' hand hygiene episodes). Microbiologically-defined outcome measures were not used. The unit of analysis was the individual nurse. Baseline hand hygiene data were similar in control and experimental wards. The possibility of a Hawthorne Effect (increased productivity i.e. more hand hygiene episodes resulting from the presence of observers) was considered by the authors as unlikely.

The aim of the ITS reported by Vernaz 2008 was to determine the relationship between antibiotic use and use of alcohol-based hand rub on the incidence of MRSA and Clostridium difficile (C. difficile). In 2003 Social Marketing Theory (Kotler 1971) was applied to improve adherence to previously implemented guidelines related to standard and isolation precautions. The importance of hand hygiene was mentioned in these guidelines, but the use of alcohol-based hand rub did not receive particular emphasis, although it had been used in the hospital since 1994. The campaign was marketed under the title of VigiGerme ®. In 2005 a second initiative was introduced as part of the Swiss National Hand Hygiene Promotion Campaign and the Global Patient Safety Challenge organized by the World Health Organization. The second initiative actively promoted the use of alcoholbased hand rub. New guidelines for the control of MRSA and C.difficile were introduced during the ITS. The authors did not provide details of the components of either campaign.

Vernaz 2008 collected monthly data including antibiotic use (defined daily dose), the number of new clinical isolates of MRSA and C. difficile per 100 patient-days, and use of litres of alcohol-based hand rub per 100 patient-days. With respect to impact of the interventions on hand hygiene adherence, the latter is the measure of interest. It is a commonly used objective measure of adherence, although it does not distinguish appropriate hand hygiene related to specific patient care indications and other hand hygiene or loss through spillage or theft. The authors used ARIMA modeling, which is appropriate for analyzing ITS data. A potential source of bias was the implementation of MRSA/C. difficile control policies and Contact Precautions at the same time. It is not possible to ascertain the effect of hand hygiene, compared to the role of implementation of guidelines for the control of MRSA and C. difficile, on the results obtained. However, it seems more likely that the hand hygiene campaigns, rather than the implementation of control guidelines, would be responsible for the increases in use of alcohol-based hand rub that were seen.

The reported aim of the initiative reported by Whitby 2008 was to replicate two different, complex interventions claimed successful elsewhere, in addition to implementing two simple substitutions of alcohol-based hand rub and brief essential training to use it. The participating areas were in geographically different parts of the same hospital to avoid contamination. Baseline data for the simple substitutions were collected July 2004 to October/November 2004. Baseline data for the first complex intervention ('Geneva' program) took place July 2004 to October 2004. Baseline data for the second complex intervention ('Washington' program) took place July 2004 to November 2004. Two of the interventions took place in parallel over the same two year period (simple and 'Geneva' interventions). The 'Washington' intervention took one month longer because of the additional time required for negotiation with staff. The 'Washington' intervention originally reported by Larson 2000 emphasized the importance of working with staff in different parts of the organization to produce a customized intervention to meet their needs. How the intervention was customized to meet local needs was not clearly described. The difference in time periods is not a source of concern in terms of comparability.

Data in all areas were collected with an electronic monitoring system which measured product use continuously. Microbiological data were not collected. The baseline data for each area were used in the analysis, with four or five months as baseline. The authors describe the designs as before-and-after, yet graphically illustrated the linear trends in hand hygiene frequency. They also used GEE modeling to calculate an incidence rate ratio of the incidence rates of the expected hand hygiene events for the post-intervention period relative to the pre-intervention period. They analyzed the data from five wards separately; we therefore considered these as five separate ITS analyses. The statistical analysis was appropriate. The key risk of bias was in the variability of the various groups; the authors did not attempt to compare interventions because of this variability. Because some of the interventions were carried out in different groups, the lack of control for group characteristics makes it difficult to interpret the results obtained.

Excluded studies

A total of 129 studies (129 papers and one thesis, which was reported in one of the papers) were excluded in both the initial and updated reviews. These studies, and reasons for their exclusion, are presented in the Characteristics of excluded studies.

In the original review, 21 of 47 excluded studies (44.7%) were excluded because they reported uncontrolled before and after study designs, compared to 46 of 82 (56.1%) in the update. One of these studies presented the amalgamated data from 18 developing countries which were reported to have introduced an infection prevention programme which included the same hand hygiene campaign over 10 years (Rosenthal 2008). It was not clear if baseline data had been collected in any of these countries and the impact of the other numerous changes introduced on hand hygiene compliance and infection was not considered. This initiative was taken to be an uncontrolled before and after study, but it was difficult to reach firm conclusions about the design. Attempts to contact the author failed.

Three ITS studies were excluded from the original review, and 12 from the update, as each had fewer than three pre and post-intervention data collection points. In the original review, an additional 12 studies reported complicated before and after designs in which two or more sequential interventions had taken place, but with only one or two episodes of data collection after each new intervention, so they could not be analyzed as ITS studies. This group included one study which is very widely quoted as evidence of the ability of hand hygiene campaigns to increase compliance and decrease rates of HAIs (Pittet 2000) and a longer follow-up study building on the original work (Hugonnet 2002). In this group of studies, a single episode of baseline data collection took place with further data collection over extended periods. These long periods of data collection became interventional, because performance feedback was provided to healthcare workers during each as part of a deliberately engineered Hawthorne (productivity) Effect (Roethlisberger 1939).

In the initial review, six CBA studies were excluded, each employing one intervention and one control unit (Mayer 1986; Larson 1991; Larson 1997; Larson 2000; Bittner 2002; Colombo 2002). Key weaknesses of these studies were the dissimilarities of the control and experimental sites and in some studies imbalances in baseline hand hygiene. In addition, because of the limited control group, the intervention was completely confounded by the study site making it difficult to attribute any observed changes to the intervention rather than to other site-specific variables.

In the updated review, two papers reported controlled before and after (CBA) studies which could not be included because the control and intervention groups were too dissimilar to allow valid comparisons (Duerink 2006; Trick 2007). Three controlled clinical trials (CCTs) also failed to meet the inclusion criteria related to appropriate choice of controls (Marra 2008; Kohli 2009; Giannitsioti 2009); either control groups were not comparable or were inadequately described.

Two crossover trials failed to meet the inclusion criteria for trials with respect to having at least two control and two intervention groups (Golan 2006; Rupp 2008). Even though each trial had a unit that acted, in turn, as a control group and intervention group, in the second part of each trial the unit acting as control had already had the intervention. There may have been carryover of the intervention effect at the period 1 intervention site into period 2. Thus, only the first period of each trial could be considered, so each was excluded from further review on the basis of having only one control and one intervention group.

In the initial review, one study, reported in two separate references, was excluded because information pertaining to hand hygiene were not presented separately from data related to universal precautions (Moongtui 1999). Another paper contained no data (Moore 1980), and three were excluded because baseline data were not reported or were collected on only a few of the participating wards (Maury 2000; Panhotra 2004; Thomas 2005).

In the updated review, four papers were excluded because hand hygiene was assessed during simulated activities or in artificial settings not involving real patients (Macdonald 2006; Milward 2007; Elola-Vicente 2008; Hon 2008). Two studies were excluded because careful reading suggested that they had no clear intervention (Snow 2006; Larson 2007). In the study reported by Snow 2006, student nurses' hand hygiene compliance was measured before and after working with clinical mentors, but the mentors were unaware that they were acting as role models and the authors do not explain how, or even if, their hand hygiene compliance was assessed to ensure that their practice was an acceptable example for students. It is therefore quesionable that the role modelling should be considered a true intervention, as no manipulation by the researchers took place. Larson 2007 dichotomized hospitals into those with high and low levels of hand hygiene compliance was then correlated with whether or not the hospital had a high or low level of compliance with nationally implemented and updated infection prevention guidelines. No change was introduced and there was no control.

One paper was excluded from the update because the baseline hand hygiene data reported had been collected by self-report (Rykkje 2007). Nine papers were excluded because they did not present data relating to hand hygiene or a proxy measure for hand hygiene (Kusachi 2006; Bhutta 2007; McDonald 2007; Suresh 2007; Thu 2007; Barchitta 2008; Capretti 2008; Gopal Rao 2009; Roberts 2009). These papers reported infection rates, but in the absence of hand hygiene data it is impossible to relate the reported changes in infection to increased hand hygiene compliance rather than to other events which either formed part of the intervention or which occurred coincidentally and were not reported by the authors. The ITS study by Huang 2006 is an example of a study where it was impossible to disentangle the effects of other elements of the care bundle approach intended to reduce MRSA bloodstream infections, of which attempts to increase hand hygiene compliance formed only one facet. Another paper was excluded because it reported baseline data with no follow-up (Stone 2007). The authors and funding body were contacted but no further information on the progress of the project could be obtained.

Overall, while the types of studies did differ between the original review and update, the reasons for exclusion were similar in both, primarily relating to insufficiency of control groups or inadequate data points in ITS studies.

Risk of bias in included studies

The Risk of Bias tables summarize the risk of bias in each study.

Allocation

The one RCT (Huang 2002) did not describe allocation method or concealment. The other study designs did not consider allocation concealment.

Blinding

Blinding was done in only one of the four included studies (Gould 1997).

Incomplete outcome data

Huang 2002 had 98% follow-up. The study by Gould 1997 reported similar attrition rates in both groups, but whether the loss in the two arms were comparable was not reported. There was no reporting in the other two studies (Vernaz 2008; Whitby 2008) of whether complete follow-up was obtained.

Selective reporting

None of the four studies reported had published a protocol or described the outcomes chosen in advance of the conduct of the study.

Table 1. Summary of Results

Other potential sources of bias

Huang 2002 used the percent of nurses who performed hand hygiene during the 30 minutes of observation as the outcome measure. This outcome was not clearly described in terms of whether hand hygiene was performed each time it was required or if it was just performed at any time during the observation period. It is possible that actual adherence was overestimated, and uncertain if the overestimation of the adherence would be similar in both groups.

Effects of interventions

Table 1 summarizes the key results from the included studies. In brief, in the study by Huang 2002, four months post-education, hand hygiene compliance was significantly improved (P < 0.001) for the nurses in the experimental group compared to the control. In contrast, Gould 1997 found that three months after their education intervention, the number of essential hand hygiene episodes performed was similar in the intervention and control groups.

Study	Measurement Period	Comparisons	Main Effect: Hand hygiene (HH)	Effect: Infection rates	Notes
Huang 2002	Baseline vs. 4 months post-intervention	Education group vs. control group	Percentage of 49 nurses who used ap- propriate HH <i>before</i> patient contact: Education group: - pre : 51% - post 85.7% Control group - pre 53.1% - post 53.1% Percent- age of 49 nurses who used appropriate HH <i>after</i> patient contact: Education group: - pre : 75.5% - post 91.8% Control group - pre 75.5% - post 71.4%	Not assessed	Significant increase in education group at post test for both before patient contact (p <.001) and after patient contact (P<.05) compared to control and baseline No confidence inter- vals reported
Gould 1997	Baseline vs. 3 months post intervention	Education group vs. control group	Percentage of essen- tial hand decontamination: Education group:	Not assessed	No significant dif- ference between ed- ucation and control groups

Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care (Review)

Copyright © 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Table 1. Summary of Results (Continued)

			- pre : 54.5% - post 58.6% Control group - pre 54.4% - post 64.1%		No confidence inter- vals reported
Vernaz 2008	Monthly observations: - Baseline: February 2000 to spring 2003 - VigiGerme cam- paign: spring 2003 to summer 2005 WHO cam- paign: summer 2005 to September 2006		of ABHR: Baseline (2001): 1.303 litres per 100 patient-days increased to 2.016 litres in 2006 with ARIMA model show-	Significant association found be- tween ABHR use and decreased MRSA but no association found for <i>C. difficile</i> No change in use of antibiotics over time	Significant increases in ABHR use in both periods compared to baseline (P<.0001 af- ter VigiGerme and P =.0013 after WHO)
Whitby 2008	Monthly observa- tions: 4 or 5 months at baseline	2 years post-interven- tion: monthly obser- vations	'Geneva' in- tervention: increased product use by 56% in the infectious dis- eases unit (IRR= 1.56, 95% CI = $1.29to 1.89 P<0.001),but not the medi-cal wards (IRR=1.14,95%$ CI = 0.93 to 1.39; p = 0.204). 'Washington' in- tervention: 48% in- crease in product use (IRR= $1.48, 95\%$ CI = 1.20 to 1.81 P< 0.001) which was sustained over two years. No differences in product use for sim- ple replacements.	Not assessed	Significant increase in one ward for Geneva interven- tion but not for other ward. Significant increase for Washing- ton intervention

ABHR: alcohol-based hand rub ARIMA: autoregressive integrated moving average *C: clostridium* CI: confidence interval HH: hand hygiene IRR: incidence rate ratio MRSA: methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus WHO: World Health Organization

Vernaz 2008 reported an increase of product use from 1.3 litres per 100 patient-days in 2001 to 2 litres per 100 patient-days following their multi-modal education campaigns. According to the results of ARIMA modeling, consumption of alcohol-based product reduced the number of new MRSA isolates by 0.03 per 100 patient-days but had no impact on the number of new isolates of *C.difficile*. It is not possible to ascertain how great the effect of implementation of guidelines for the control of MRSA and *C. difficile* would be, compared to the hand hygiene campaigns, on the increases in use of alcohol-based hand rub that were seen. Whitby 2008 found that removing or changing alcohol-based

hand rub with minimal training did not increase product use. The 'Geneva' intervention was partially successful, increasing product use by 56% in the infectious diseases unit (IRR=1.56, 95% CI = 1.29 to 1.89; P < 0.001), but not in the medical wards (IRR= 1.14, 95% CI = 0.93 to 1.39; P = 0.204). The 'Washington' intervention resulted in a 48% increase in product use (IRR=1.48, 95% CI = 1.20 to 1.81; P < 0.001) which was sustained over two years.

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

In summary, only four studies met the criteria for inclusion in this review. Two studies examined education as the intervention (Huang 2002; Gould 1997) while the other two presented complex initiatives. Vernaz 2008 and Whitby 2008 examined similar campaigns, based on Pittet 2000, which evaluated the effects of alcohol-based hand rub, continual reminders, and performance feedback. Whitby 2008 also examined simple substitutions of products with minimal education, as well as a second multifaceted campaign that was similar to the Swiss campaign but with an added component of involving staff in the change process. Vernaz 2008 also examined a second multifaceted campaign where the additional component was application of social marketing theory. Study designs were also different. Huang 2002 used an RCT design, while Gould 1997 used a CBA, and the other two used an ITS design. A variety of outcome measures were used: percent of nurses who performed hand hygiene, percent frequency of hand washes after high risk activities, and product use, expressed as either litres per 100 patient-days or incidence rates of the expected hand hygiene events. Thus, interventions, designs and outcome measures were all different, and so it was not possible to pool results for a meta-analysis.

In terms of effects of the interventions, one of the education campaigns found an increase in hand hygiene (Huang 2002), while the other did not (Gould 1997). The simple substitutions were not associated with an increase in product use (Whitby 2008). The campaigns based on the Swiss model showed an increase in product use in two of the three units where applied, for example, the unit in the study by Vernaz 2008 and one of two units in Whitby 2008. Product use also increased in the units with the social marketing campaign (Vernaz 2008) and the campaign with staff involvement (Whitby 2008).

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

Despite the importance of hand hygiene to reduce HAIs and increase in the number of intervention studies since July 2006, the evidence base remains poor. Since the original Cochrane review there is still a dearth of methodologically robust studies to explore the effectiveness of interventions to increase hand hygiene compliance and in some studies the quality of study designs has declined. Uncontrolled before and after studies still form the largest group and although the number of ITSs is increasing, most contain too few data collection points to account for seasonal and secular trends which might affect the data and the auto-correlation among measurements repeatedly taken over time (Ramsay 2003). The three ITS studies in the original search, and 12 of the 14 identified in our most recent searches did not include the minimum pre-intervention and three post-intervention data collection points.

None of the four studies reviewed or the excluded studies considered economic outcomes. The cost of implementing the intervention was mentioned in only one excluded study (Marra 2008). Similarly there was no mention of health service utilization outcomes such as readmission rates, changes in levels of health care, length of patients' stay or the effects of any of the interventions on patients' health.

In the first review we noted the dearth of studies which reported microbiological data. In the update routinely collected surveillance data were reported in at least half of the 84 studies considered, but microbiological sampling of hands to determine whether hand hygiene actually reduced bacterial counts was reported in only three excluded studies (Kusachi 2006; Widmer 2007; Rupp 2008). In spite of the increased use of routinely collected surveillance data, because of insufficient control of confounding factors it was not possible to determine the effects of increased hand hygiene on infection rates.

In addition to the increased tendency to undertake ITSs, other trends were noted. There is a move towards measuring product use in addition to, or instead of, directly observing hand hygiene. This has the potential to improve the quality of studies as it eliminates the Hawthorne effect (Roethlisberger 1939). Along with the ITS design, it also increases feasibility of longer term follow-up, as well as collects data relating to all healthcare workers, not just nurses, which is important as all have the potential to contribute to HAIs. What is not clear in such studies is whether everyone who used the product has had the intervention; if not, the data may underestimate the effect. It is also possible that use by visitors to the wards who do not have direct patient contact could account for some of the changes in product use.

Post-intervention follow-up was longer in the new studies included in this update than in the original review, but because the study findings were so mixed, we were unable to determine whether the interventions were associated with a sustained increase in hand hygiene compliance. Where data were collected by direct observation, audit methods show some improvement, with greater awareness of the need to report information such as details of auditors' training and quality control which might affect reliability and validity of findings (Gould 2007).

One additional trend of note is the increased use of care bundles for reducing HAIs, with strategies to improve hand hygiene one aspect of these care bundles. Even when hand hygiene data are presented separately it is impossible to disentangle the impact of the different facets.

Quality of the evidence

While the four included studies met the criteria for inclusion for the review, they were not without some risk of bias.

With the outcome measure used by Huang 2002, percent of nurses who performed hand hygiene during the 30 minutes of observation, the researchers may have overestimated the improvement in hand hygiene. Without a more precise measure of hand hygiene, it is not possible to be sure of the changes that occurred in each group and thus accurately assess the effect of education on promoting appropriate hand hygiene. In contrast, the effect of education on hand hygiene may have been underestimated in the study Gould 1997, where the sample size was small and the education program not implemented as planned.

The differences in participant groups, variety of interventions and product use as the outcome measure in the studies by Whitby 2008 and Vernaz 2008 make it difficult to draw conclusions about the effects of those interventions. Furthermore, in the study by Vernaz, it was not possible to evaluate the effect of the concurrent implementation of guidelines for MRSA and *C.difficile* control on hand hygiene.

Superficially, the results of the four studies do seem to indicate that multifaceted campaigns that include social marketing or involvement of staff may be more effective than campaigns without those components, but the latter are more effective than simple product substitutions or education alone. The limited amount and the quality of the evidence, however, limit the ability to draw a firm conclusion about the effectiveness of any of these interventions in promoting hand hygiene. Further evidence is required to be able to draw clear conclusions about which interventions are the most useful.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

Although this update has been unable to provide clear evidence of the effect of interventions to promote hand hygiene compliance or reduce HAIs, the findings should not be taken to suggest that attempts to promote hand hygiene compliance or reduce HAIs are not worth undertaking. Much HAI is spread by direct contact and it is logical to suppose that hand hygiene can interrupt the chain of infection, especially when the active ingredient in the hand hygiene agent is applied systematically to all surfaces of hands (Widmer 2008). Hand hygiene at appropriate times is highly desirable on aesthetic grounds alone, forms an important indicator in the quality of care which is important to patients and their families, and should continue to be promoted in all clinical settings.

Implications for research

Soundly designed studies are still required to evaluate the effectiveness of interventions intended to improve hand hygiene compliance and reduce HAIs. Adequately powered cluster randomised trials or well designed ITS studies with at least 12 month followup would provide the optimal study design; the latter may be more feasible. There seems to be a trend towards using product use instead of direct observation for outcomes but more research is needed about the validity and reliability of this as a measure of appropriate hand hygiene (Haas 2007). Researchers should also consider potential modifying variables such as nurse/patient ratio or another measure of workload, accessibility of hand hygiene products, and healthcare worker skill mix. Finally the choice of intervention to be studied should be considered in terms of underpinning theoretical frameworks, for example, drawing on knowledge from the behavioural and social sciences, especially social cognitive models (Pittet 2004). The two new studies in this update do indicate that the addition of social marketing or staff input may improve hand hygiene, but the evidence is not strong in terms of drawing conclusions about what aspects of a campaign are effective, since not all units showed improvements.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Russell Gruen, Martin Eccles, Virginia Roth and Elizabeth Waters for their helpful comments with the first review. We would like to thank Rosa Benato for help with translating the Spanish papers and Professor Alison McFarlane for help translating the French papers for the update. We would also like to acknowledge Michelle Fiander for her help with the search strategy and Alain Mayhew, Rachel Bennett, Laura Nichol and Jeremy Grimshaw for their helpful comments and assistance in preparing this review for publication.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Gould 1997 {published data only}

Gould D J, Chamberlain A. The use of a ward-based educational teaching package to enhance nurses' compliance with infection control procedures. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 1997;6(1):55–67. [MEDLINE: 9052110]

Huang 2002 {published data only}

Huang J, Jiang D, Wang X, Liu Y, Fennie K, Burgess J, et al.Changing knowledge, behavior and practice related to universal precautions among hospital nurses in China. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing* 2002;**33**(5): 217–24. [MEDLINE: 12269760]

Vernaz 2008 {published data only}

Vernaz N, Sax H, Pittet D, Bonnabry P, Schrenzel J, Harbath S. Temporal effects of antibiotic use and hand rub consumption on the incidence of MRSA and Clostridium difficile. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 2008;**63**: 630–1.

Whitby 2008 {published data only}

Whitby M, McLaws M L, Slater K, Tong E, Johnson B l. Three successful interventions in health workers that improve compliance with hand hygiene: is sustained replication possible?. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2008;**36**:349–55.

References to studies excluded from this review

Apisarnthananarak 2008 {published data only}

Apisarnthananarak A, Pinitchai U, Thongphubeth K, Yuekyen C, Warren D K, Fraser V J. A multifaceted intervention to reduce pandrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii colonization and infection in 3 intensive care units in a Thai tertiary care center: a three year study. *Clinical and Infectious Diseases* 2008;47:760–7.

Assanasen 2008 {published data only}

Assanasen S, Edmond M, Bearman G. Impact of 2 different levels of performance feedback on compliance with infection control process measures in 2 intensive care units. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2008;**36**:407–13.

Avila-Aguero 1998 {published data only}

Avila-Aguero M, Umana MA, Jimenez AL, Faingezicht I, Paris MM. Handwashing practices in tertiary-care, pediatric hospital and the effect on an educational program. *Clinical Performance and Quality Health Care* 1998;**6**(2):70–2.

Baker 1998 {published data only}

Baker DJ. Effects of video based staff training with managerled exercises in residential support. *Mental Retardation* 1998;**36**(3):198–204.

Barchitta 2008 {published data only}

Barchitta M, Cipresso R, Giaquinta M, Romeo A, Denaro C, Pennisi C, et al.Acquisition and spread of Acinetobacter baumannii and Stenotrophomonas maltophilia in intensive care patients. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health* 2008;**212**:330–7.

Bellis 2006 {published data only}

Bellis K. Hand hygiene compliance in a Victorian multicentred study. Australian Infection Control. 2006; Vol. 11, issue Part 4: Abstracts. Infection Control Association Fourth Biennial Conference 2006 ? The Key to Success 20–22 September 2006 ? Sydney, Australia.:141.

Berg 1995 {published data only}

Berg DE, Hershow RC, Ramirez CA, Weinstein RA. Control of nosocomial infections in an intensive care unit in Guatemala City. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 1995;**21**(3): 588–93.

Berhe 2006 {published data only}

Berhe M, Edmond M B, Bearman G. Measurement and feedback of infection control process measures in the intensive care unit: impact on compliance. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2006;**34**:537–9.

Bhojani 2008 {published data only}

Bhojani S, DCosta S, Gupta A. Hand hygiene: simple, inexpensive and effective. *British Journal of Infection Control* 2008;**9**:15–7.

Bhutta 2007 {published data only}

Bhutta A, Gilliam C, Honeycutt M, Schexnayder S, Green J, Moss M, et al.Reduction of bloodstream infections associated with catheters in paediatric intensive care unit; stepwise approach. *British Medical Journal* 2007;**334**: 362–5.

Bischoff 2000 {published data only}

Bischoff WE, Reynolds TM, Sessier CN, Edmond MB, Wenzel RP. Handwashing compliance by health care workers: The impact of introducing accessible, alcoholbased hand antiseptic. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2000; **160**(7):1017–21.

Bittner 2002 {published data only}

Bittner MJ, Rich EC, Turner PD, Arnold WH Jr. Limited impact of sustained simple feedback based on soap and paper towel consumption on the frequency of hand washing in an adult intensive care unit. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2002;**23**(3):120–6.

Brown 2003 {published data only}

Brown SM, Lubimova AV, Khrustalyeva NM, Shulaeva SV, Tekhova I, Zueva LP, et al. Use of an alcohol-based hand rub and quality improvement interventions to improve hand hygiene in a Russian neonatal intensive care unit. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2003;**24**(3):172–9.

Cantrell 2009 {published data only}

Cantrell D, Shamriz O, Cohen M J, Stern Z, Block C, Brezis M. Hand hygiene compliance by physicians: marked heterogeneity due to local culture?. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2009;**37**:301–5.

Capretti 2008 {published data only}

Capretti MG, Sandri F, Tridapalli E, Galletti S, Petracci E, Faldella G. Impact of a standardized hand hygiene program on the incidence of nosocomial infection in very low birth

weight infants. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2008; **36**:430–5.

Chan 2007 {published data only}

Chan PC, Huang LM, Lin HC. Control of an outbreak of pandrug-resistant Acinetobacter baumanni colonization and infection in a neonatal intensive care unit. *Infection Control* and Hospital Epidemiology 2007;**28**:423–9.

Chimango 2009 {published data only}

Chimango JL, Kaponda CN, Jere DL, Chimwaza A, Criittenden KS, Kachingwe SI, et al.Impact of a peer-group intervention on occupation-related behaviors for urban hospital workers in Malawi. *Journal of the Association of Nurses AIDS Care* 2009;**20**:293–307.

Christiaens 2009 {published data only}

Christiaens G, Barbier C, Mitsers J, Warnotte J, De Mol P, Bouffioux C. Hygiène des mains: première mesure pour la maîtrise des infections nosocomiales. *Revue Medicale de Liege* 2009;**61**:31–6.

Coghill 2009 {published data only}

Coghill E. Using high-impact interventions to reduce infection risk by standardising good practice. *Nursing Times* 2009;**105**:14–6.

Coignard 1998 {published data only}

Coignard B, Grandbastien B, Berrouane Y, Krembel C, Queverue M, Salomez JL, et al.Handwashing quality: impact of a special program. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 1998;**19**(7):510–3.

Colombo 2002 {published data only}

Colombo C, Giger H, Grote J, Deplazes C, Pletscher W, Luthi R, et al.Impact of teaching interventions on nurse compliance with hand disinfection. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2002;**51**(1):69–72.

Conly 1989 {published data only}

Conly JM, Hill S, Ross J, Lertzman J, Louie TJ. Handwashing practices in an intensive care unit: the effects of an educational program and its relationship to infection rates. *American Journal of Infection Control* 1989;**17**(6): 330–9.

Creedon 2005 {published data only}

Creedon SA. Healthcare workers' hand decontamination practices: compliance with recommended guidelines. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2005;**51**(3):208–16.

Creedon 2006 {published data only}

Creedon S. Health care workers' hand decontamination practices; an Irish study. *Clinical Nursing Research* 2006;**15**: 6–26.

Cromer 2008 {published data only}

Cromer AL, Latham SC, Bryant KG, Hutsell S, Gansauer L, Bendyk HA, et al.Monitoring and feedback of hand hygiene compliance and the impact of facility-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2008;**36**:672–7.

das Neves 2006 {published data only}

das Neves ZC, Tipple AF, Silva e Souza AC, Pereira MS, Melo Dde S, Ferreira LR. Hand hygiene: the impact on incentive strategies on adherence among healthcare workers from a newborn intensive care unit. *Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagen* 2006;14:546–52.

Diekema 1995 {published data only}

Diekema DJ, Schuldt SS, Albanese MA, Doebbeling BN. Universal precautions training of preclinical students: impact of knowledge, attitudes, and compliance. *Preventive Medicine* 1995;**24**(6):580–5.

Diersson-Sotos 2008 {published data only}

Diersson-Sotos T, Robles-Garcia y M, Vabaena-Maya S. Hand washing: experience in two Spanish autonomous regions. *Medical Clinics Monogram (Barcelona)* 2008;**131** (Supplement 3):60–3.

Donowitz 1986 {published data only}

Donowitz LG. Failure of the overgown to prevent nosocomial infection in a pediatric intensive care unit. *Pediatrics* 1986;77(1):35–8.

Dorsey 1996 {published data only}

Dorsey ST, Cydulka RK, Emerman CL. Is hand washing teachable?: failure to improve handwashing behaviour in an urban emergency department. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 1996;**3**(4):360–5. [MEDLINE: 8881546]

Dubbert 1990 {published data only}

Dubbert PM, Dolce J, Richter W, Miller M, Chapman Sw. Increasing ICU staff handwashing: effects of education and group feedback. *Infection Control Hospital Epidemiology* 1990;**11**(4):191–193. [MEDLINE: 2332602]

Duerink 2006 {published data only}

Duerink DO, Farida H, Nagelkerke NJ, Wahyono H, Keuter M, Lestari ES, et al.Preventing nosocomial infections: improving compliance with standard precautions in an Indonesian teaching hospital. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2006;**64**:36–43.

Duggan 2008 {published data only}

Duggan JM, Hensley S, Khuder S, Papadimos TJ, Jacobs L. Inverse correlation between level of professional education and rate of handwashing compliance in a teaching hospital. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2008;**29**:534–8.

Earl 2001 {published data only}

Earl ML, Jackson MM, Rickman LS. Improved rates of compliance with hand antisepsis guidelines: a three-phase observational study. *American Journal of Nursing* 2001;**101** (3):26–33.

Ebnother 2008 {published data only}

Ebnother C, Tanner B, Schmid F, La Rocca V, Heinzer I, Bregenzer T. Impact of an infection control program on the prevalence of nosocomial infections at a tertiary care center in Switzerland. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2008;**29**:38–43.

Eckmanns 2006 {published data only}

Eckmanns T, Bessert J, Behnke M, Gastmeier P, Ruden H. Compliance with antiseptic hand rub use in intensive care units: the Hawthorne effect. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2006;**27**:931–4.

Eldridge 2006 {published data only}

Eldridge NE, Woods SS, Bonello RS, Clutter K, Ellingson L, Harris MA, et al. Using the six sigma process to implement the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Guideline for Hand Hygiene in 4 intensive care units. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2006;**21**(Supplement 2):S35–S42.

Elola-Vicente 2008 {published data only}

Elola-Vicente P, Aroca-Palencia J, Huertas-Paredero MV, Diez-Sebastian J, Rivas-Bellido L, Martinez- Martinez G, et al.A hand hygiene education program. Comparison between handwashing and the use of alcohol solutions [Programa de formacion sobre la hygiene de las manos. Estudio comparative aleatorizado del lavado higienico y el uso de soluciones alcoholicas]. *Enfermia Clinica* 2008;**18**: 5–10.

Giannitsioti 2009 {published data only}

Giannitsioti E, Athanasia S, Antoniadou A, Fytrou H, Athanassiou K, Bourvani P, et al.Does a bed rail system of alcohol-based handrub antiseptic improve compliance of health workers with hand hygiene?. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2009;**37**:160–3.

Golan 2006 {published data only}

Golan Y, Doron S, Griffin J, Gamal HE, Tanios M, Blunt K, et al. The impact of gown-use requirement on hand hygiene compliance. *Clinics in Infectious Diseases* 2006;**42**:370–6.

Gopal Rao 2009 {published data only}

Gopal Rao G, Jeanes A, Russell H, Wilson D, Atere-Roberts E, O'Sullivan D, et al. Effectiveness of short-term, enhanced, infection control support in improving compliance with infection control guidelines and practice in nursing homes: a cluster randomized trial. *Epidemiology and Infection* 2009; **137**:1465–71.

Graham 1990 {published data only}

Graham M. Frequency and duration of handwashing in an intensive care unit. *Amermican Journal of Infection Control* 1990;**18**(2):77–81.

Grayson 2008 {published data only}

Grayson ML, Jarvie LJ, Martin R, Johnson PDR, Jodain ME, McMullan C, et al.Significant reductions in methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia and clinical isolates associated with a multisite, hand hygiene culture-change program and subsequent successful statewide roll-out. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2008;**188**:633–40.

Haas 2008 {published data only}

Haas JP, Larson EL. Impact of wearable alcohol gel dispensers on hand hygiene in an emergency department. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 2008;15:393–6.

Harbarth 2002 {published data only}

Harbarth S, Pittet D, Grady L, Zawacki A, Potter-Bynoe G, Samore MH, Goldmann DA. Interventional study to evaluate the impact of an alcohol-based hand gel in improving hand hygiene compliance. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 2002;**21**(6):489–95.

Harrington 2007 {published data only}

Harrington G, Watson K, Bailey M, Land G, Borrell S, Houston L, et al.Reduction in hospitalwide incidence of infection or colonization with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus and use of antimicrobial handhygiene gel and statistical process control charts. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2007;**28**:837–44.

Hon 2008 {published data only}

Hon CY, Gamage B, Bryce EA, LoChang J, Yassi A, Maultsaid D, et al.Personal protective equipment in health care: can online infection control courses transfer knowledge and improve proper selection and use?. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2008;**36**:33–7.

Howard 2009 {published data only}

Howard DP, Williams C, Sen S, Shah A, Daurka J, Bird R, et al.A simple effective clean practice protocol significantly improves hand decontamination and infection control measures in the acute surgical setting. *Infection* 2009;**37**: 34–8.

Huang 2006 {published data only}

Huang SS, Yokoe, Hinirichsen VL, Yokoe DS, Hinrichsen VL, Spurchise LS, et al.Impact of routine intensive care unit surveillance cultures and resultant barrier precautions on hospital-wide methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2006;43:971–8.

Huang 2008 {published data only}

Huang TT, Wu SC. Evaluation of a training programme on knowledge and compliance of nurse assistants hand hygiene in nursing homes. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2008;**68**: 164–70.

Hughes 1986 {published data only}

Hughes WT, Williams B, Williams B, Pearson T. The nosocomial colonization of T. Bear. *Infection Control* 1986; 7(10):495–500.

Hugonnet 2002 {published data only}

Hugonnet S, Perneger TV, Pittet D. Alcohol-based handrub improves compliance with hand hygiene in intensive care units. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2002;**162**(9):1037–43.

Hussein 2007 {published data only}

Hussein R, Khakoo R, Hobbs G. Hand hygiene practices in adult versus pediatric intensive care units at a university hospital before and after intervention. *Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2007;**39**(6-7):566–70.

Khatib 1999 {published data only}

Khatib M, Jamaleddine G, Abdallah A, Ibrahim Y. Hand washing and use of gloves while managing patients receiving mechanical ventilation in the ICU. *Chest* 1999;**116**(1): 172–5.

Kohli 2009 {published data only}

Kohli E, Ptak J, Smith R, Taylor E, Talbot EA, Kirkland KB. Variability in the Hawthorne Effect with regard to hand hygiene performance in high- and low-performing inpatient care units. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2009;**30**:222–5.

Kusachi 2006 {published data only}

Kusachi S, Sumiyama Y, Arima Y, Yoshida Y, Tanaka H, Nakamura Y, et al.Creating a manual for proper hygiene and its clinical effects. *Surgery Today* 2006;**36**:410–5.

Lam 2004 {published data only}

Lam BC, Lee J, Lau YL. Hand hygiene practices in a neonatal intensive care unit: a multimodal intervention and impact on nosocomial infection. *Pediatrics* 2004;**114**(5): 565–71.

Larson 1991 {published data only}

Larson E, McGeer A, Quraishi ZA, Krenzischek D, Parsons BJ, Holdford J, et al.Effect of an automated sink on handwashing practices and attitudes in high-risk units. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 1991;**12**(7): 422–8.

Larson 1997 {published data only}

Larson EL, Bryan JL, Adler LM, Blane C. A multifactorial approach to changing handwashing behaviour. *American Journal of Infection Control* 1997;**25**(1):3–10. [MEDLINE: 9057937]

Larson 2000 {published data only}

Larson EL, Early E, Cloonan P, Sugrue S, Parides M. An organisational climate intervention associated with increased handwashing and decreased nosocomial infections. *Behavioral Medicine* 2000;**26**(1):14–20.

Larson 2007 {published data only}

Larson L, Quiros D, Lin SX. Dissemination of the CDCs Hand Hygiene Guideline and impact on infection rates. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2007;**35**:666–75.

Lausten 2009a {published data only}

Lausten S, Bibby B, Kristensen B, KjØlseth MØller, Thulstrup AM. E-learning may improve adherence to alcohol-based hand rubbing: a cohort study. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2009;**37**:565–8.

Lausten 2009b {published data only}

Lausten S, Lund E, Bibby B, Kristensen B, Thulstrup AM, Moller JK. Cohort study of adherence to correct hand antisepsis before and after performance of clinical procedures. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2009;**30**:172–8.

Lee 2009 {published data only}

Lee TC, Moore C, Raboud JM, Muller MP, Green K, Tong A, et al.Impact of a mandatory infection control education program on nosocomial acquisition of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2009;**30**:249–56.

Macdonald 2006 {published data only}

Macdonald DJ, McKillop EC, Trotter S, Gray A. Improving hand-washing performance - a crossover study of handwashing in the orthopaedic department. *Annals of the Royal College of Surgery England* 2006;**88**:289–91.

Madani 2006 {published data only}

Madani TA, Albarrak AM, Alazraqi TA, Alazraqi TA, Ishaz AH. Steady improvement of infection control services in six community hospitals in Makkah following annual audits during Hajj for four consecutive years. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 2006;**6**:135.

Marena 2002 {published data only}

Marena C, Lodola L, Zecca M, Bulgheroni A, Carretto E, Maserati R, Zambianchi L. Assessment of handwashing practices with chemical and microbiologic methods: Preliminary results from a prospective crossover study. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2002;**30**:334–40.

Marra 2008 {published data only}

Marra AR, Darco C, Bravim BA, Martino MDV, Correa L, Silva CV, et al.Controlled trial measuring the effect of a feedback intervention on hand hygiene compliance in a step-down unit. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2008;**29**:730–5.

Maury 2000 {published data only}

Maury E, Alzieu M, Baudel JL, Haram N, Barbut F, Guidet B, et al. Availability of an alcohol solution can improve hand disinfection compliance in an intensive care unit. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2000;**162** (1):324–7.

Mayer 1986 {published data only}

Mayer JA, Dubbert PM, Miller M, Burkett PA, Chapman SW. Increasing handwashing in an intensive care unit. *Infection Control* 1986;7(5):259–62.

McDonald 2007 {published data only}

McDonald JR, Carriker CM, Pien B, Trinh JV, Engemann JJ, Harrell LJ, et al.Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus outbreak in an intensive care nursery: potential for institutional spread. *Pediatric Infectious Diseases Journal* 2007;**26**:678–83.

McGuckin 1999 {published data only}

McGuckin M, Taylor A, Martin V, Porten L, Salcido R. Evaluation of a patient education model for increasing hand hygiene compliance in an impatient rehabilitation unit. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2004;**32**(4):235–8.

McGuckin 2004 {published data only}

McGuckin M, Waterman R, Porten L, Bello S, Caruso M, Juzaitis B, et al.Patient education model for increasing handwashing compliance. *American Journal of Infecton Control* 1999;**27**(4):309–14.

McGuckin 2006 {published data only}

McGuckin M, Shubin A, McBride P, Lane S, Struass K, Butler D, et al. The effect of random voice hand hygiene messages delivered by medical, nursing and infection control staff on hand hygiene compliance in intensive care. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2006;**34**:673–5.

McLaws 2009 {published data only}

McLaws ML, Pantle AC, Fitzpatrick KR, Hughes C. Improvements in hand hygiene across New South Wales public hospitals: clean hands save lives, Part III. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2009;**191**(Supplement):S18–S25.

Milward 2007 {published data only}

Milward MR, Cooper PR. Competency assessment for infection control for the undergraduate dental curriculum. *European Journal of Dental Education* 2007;**11**:148–54.

Miyachi 2007 {published data only}

Miyachi H, Furuya H, Umezawa K, Itoh Y, Ohshima T, Miyamoto M, et al.Controlling methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus by stepwise implementation of preventive strategies in a university hospital: impact of a link-nurse system on the basis of multidisciplinary approaches. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2007;**35**: 115–21.

Moongtui 1999 {published data only}

Moongtui W. Compliance with components of universal precautions guidelines: Using peer feedback program as a cue to action among health care workers in Thailand. PhD Dissertation: The University of Alabama at Birmingham 1999.

Moongtui W, Gauthier DK, Turner JG. Using peer feedback to improve handwashing and glove usage among Thai health care workers. American Journal of Infection Control 2000; Vol. 28, issue 5:365–9.

Moore 1980 {published data only}

Moore M, Abbott NR. Can handwashing practice be changed?. *American Journal of Nursing* 1980;**80**:80.

Muto 2000 {published data only}

Muto CA, Sistrom MG, Farr BM. Hand hygiene rates unaffected by installation of dispensers of a rapidly acting hand antiseptic. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2000; **28**(3):273–6.

Muto 2007 {published data only}

Muto CA, Blank MK, Marsh JW, Vergis EN, O'Leary MM, Shutt KA, et al.Control of an outbreak of infection with the hypervirulent Clostridium difficileB1 strain in a university hospital using a comprehensive "bundle" approach. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2007;**45**:1266–73.

Nouira 2008 {published data only}

Nouira A, Ounis H, Khediri M, Helali R, Bannour W, Njah M. Healthcare workers hand hygiene: compliance of the recommendations. *Tunisian Medical* 2008;**86**:451–6.

Panhotra 2004 {published data only}

Panhotra BR, Saxena AK, Al-Arabi AM. The effect of a continuous educational program on handwashing compliance among healthcare workers in an intensive care unit. *British Journal Infection Control* 2004;**5**(3):15–8.

Pessoa-Siilva 2007 {published data only}

Pessoa-Siilva CL, Hugonnet S, Pfister R, Touveneau S, Dharan S, Posfay-Barbe K, et al.Reduction of health care associated infection risk in neonates by successful hand hygiene promotion. *Pediatrics* 2007;**120**:382–90.

Picheansathian 2008 {published data only}

Picheansathian W, Pearson A, Suchaxaya P. The effectiveness of a promotion programme on hand hygiene compliance and nosocomial infections in a neonatal intensive care unit. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 2008;**14**:315–21.

Pittet 2000 {published data only}

Pittet D, Hugonnet S, Harbarth S, Mourouga P, Sauvan V, Touveneau S, et al.Effectiveness of a hospital-wide programme to improve compliance with hand hygiene.

Infection Control Programme. *Lancet* 2000;**356**(9238): 1307–12.

Prieto 2005 {published data only}

Prieto J, Macleod Clark J. Contact precautions for clostridium difficile and methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). *Journal of Research in Nursing* 2005;**10**(5): 511–26.

Raju 1991 {published data only}

Raju TK, Kobier C. Improving handwashing habits in the newborn nurseries. *American Journal of the Medical Sciences* 1991;**302**(6):355–8.

Randle 2006 {published data only}

Randle J, Clarke M, Storr J. Hand hygiene compliance in healthcare workers. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2006;64: 205–9.

Raskind 2009 {published data only}

Raskind CH, Worley S, Vinski J, Goldfarb J. Hand hygiene compliance rates after an educational intervention in a neonatal intensive care unit. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2009;**28**:1096–8.

Roberts 2009 {published data only}

Roberts C, Roberts J, Roberts RJ. Investigation into the effect of an alcohol-based hand product on infection rate in a nursing home setting. *Journal of Infection Prevention* 2009;**10**:138–42.

Rose 2009 {published data only}

Rose L, Rogel K, Redl L, Cade JF. Implementation of a multimodal infection control program during and Acinetobacter outbreak. *International Journal of Nursing Care* 2009;**25**:57–63.

Rosenthal 2003 {published data only}

Rosenthal VD, McCormick RD, Guzman S, Villamayor C, Orellano PW. Effect of education and performance feedback on handwashing: the benefit of administrative support in Argentinean hospitals. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2003;**31**(2):85–92.

Rosenthal 2008 {published data only}

Rosenthal, VD. Device-associated nosocomial infections in limited-resources countries: findings of the International Noscomial Infection Control Consortium (INICC). *American Journal of Infection Control* 2008;**36**:7–11.

Rummukainen 2009 {published data only}

Rummukainen M, Jakobsson A, Karppi P, Kautianen H, Lyytikäinen O. Promoting hand hygiene and prudent use of antimicrobials in long-term care facilities. *American Journal* of Infection Control 2009;**37**:168–71.

Rupp 2008 {published data only}

Rupp ME, Fitzgerald T, Puumala S, Anderson JR, Craig R, Iwen PC, et al.Prospective, controlled, cross-over trial of alcohol-based hand gel in critical care units. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2008;**29**:8–15.

Rykkje 2007 {published data only}

Rykkje L, Heggelund A, Harthug S. Improved hand hygiene through simple interventions. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen* 2007; **29**(127):861–3.

Sacar 2006 {published data only}

Sacar S, Turgut H, Kaleli I, Cevahir N, Asan A, Sacar M, et al.Poor hospital infection control practice in hand hygiene, glove utilization, and usage of tourniquets. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2006;**34**:606–9.

Salemi 2002 {published data only}

Salemi C, Canola MT, Eck EK. Hand washing and physicians: how to get them to together. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2002;**23**(1):32–5.

Sanchez-Paya 2007 {published data only}

Sanchez-Paya J, Fuster-Perez M, Garcia-Gonzalez RM, Garcia, Shimizu P, San Juan-Quiles A, et al.Evaluation of a program for updating recommendations about hand hygiene. *An Sist Sanit Navar* 2007;**30**:343–52.

Santana 2007 {published data only}

Santana SL, Furtado GH, Coutinho AP, Medeiros EA. Assessment of healthcare professionals adherence to hand hygiene after alcohol-based hand rub introduction at an intensive care unit in Sao Paulo, Brazil. *Infection Control* and Hospital Epidemiology 2007;28:365–7.

Schneider 2009 {published data only}

Schneider J, Moromisisato D, Zemetra B, Rizzi-Wagner L, Rivero N, Mason W, et al. Hand hygiene adherence is influenced by the behavior of role models. *Pediatric Critical Care Medicine* 2009;**10**:360–3.

Shaw 2003 {published data only}

Shaw S, Tanner J. Handwashing practices on a neonatal unit: the influence of teaching sessions. *Journal of Neonatal Nursing* 2003;**9**:162–6.

Siegel 2007 {published data only}

Siegel JH, Korniewicz DM. Keeping patients safe: an interventional hand hygiene study at an oncology center. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing* 2007;**11**:643–6.

Simmons 1990 {published data only}

Simmons B, Bryant J, Neiman K, Spencer L, Arheart K. The role of handwashing in prevention of endemic intensiive care unit infections. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 1990;**11**(11):589–94.

Snow 2006 {published data only}

Snow M, White GL, Alder, Stanford J B. Mentor's hand hygiene practices influence students' hand hygiene rates. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2006;**34**:18–24.

Souweine 2009 {published data only}

Souweine B, Lautrette A, Aumeran C, Bendit M, Constatutin JM, Guelon D, et al.Comparison of acceptability, skin tolerance and compliance between handwashing and alcohol-based handrub in ICUs: results of a multicentric study. *Intensive Care Medicine* 2009;**35**: 1216–24.

Stone 2007 {published data only}

Stone S, Slade R, Fuller C, Charlett A, Cookson B, Teare L, et al.Early communication: does a national campaign to improve hand hygiene in the NHS work? Initial English and Welsh experience from the NOSEC study (National

Observational Study to Evaluate the CleanYourHands Campaign). *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2007;**66**:293–6.

Suchitra 2007 {published data only}

Suchitra JB, Lakshmi Devi N. Impact of an education on knowledge, attitudes and practices among various categories of health care workers on nosocomial infections. *Indian Journal of Medical Microbiology* 2007;25:181–7.

Suresh 2007 {published data only}

Suresh G, Cahill J. How user friendly is the hospital for practicing hand hygiene? An ergonomic evaluation. *Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety* 2007;**33**: 171–9.

Swoboda 2004 {published data only}

Swoboda SM, Earsing K, Strauss K, Lane S, Lipsett PA. Electronic monitoring and voice prompts to improve hand hygiene and decrease nosocomial infections in an intermediate care unit. *Critical Care Medicine* 2004;**32**(2): 358–63.

Swoboda 2007 {published data only}

Swoboda SM, Earsing K, Strauss K, Lane S, Lipsett PA. Isolation status and voice prompts to improve hand hygiene. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2007;**35**:470–6.

Tenias 2009 {published data only}

Tenias JM, Mayordomo C, Mico ML, San Felix M, Esparza G, Angeles M, et al.Impact of an educational intervention for promoting handwashing and the rational use of gloves in a hospital. *Revista de Calidad Asistencial* 2009;**24**:36–41.

Thomas 2005 {published data only}

Thomas M, Gilespie W, Krauss J, Harrison S, Medeiros R, Hawkins M, et al.Focus group data as a tool in assessing effectiveness of a hand hygiene campaign. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2005;**33**(6):368–73.

Thomas 2009 {published data only}

Thomas BW, Berg-Copas GM, Vasquez DG, Jackson BL, Wetta-Hall R. Conspicuous vs. customary location of hand hygiene agent dispensers on alcohol-based hand hygiene product usage in an intensive care unit. *Journal of the American Association of Osteotomy* 2009;**109**:263–7.

Thu 2007 {published data only}

Thu L, Dibley M, Nho V, Archibald L, Jarvis WR, Sohn A. Reduction in surgical site infections in neurosurgical patients associated with a bedside hand hygiene program in Vietnam. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2007; **28**:583–8.

Tibbals 1996 {published data only}

Tibballs J. Teaching hospital medical staff to handwash. *Medical Journal of Australia* 1996;**164**(7):395–8.

Traore 2007 {published data only}

Traore O, Hugonnet S, Lubbe J, Griffiths W, Pittet D. Liquid versus gel handrub formulation: a prospective intervention study. *Critical Care* 2007;**11**:R52.

Trick 2007 {published data only}

Trick WE, Vernon MO, Welbel SF, Demarais P, Hayden MK, Weinstein RA. Multicenter intervention program to increase adherence to hand hygiene recommendations

and glove use and to reduce the incidence of antimicrobial resistance. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2007;**28**:42–9.

Van de Mortel 1995 {published data only}

Van de Mortel T, Heyman L. Performance feedback increases the incidence of handwashing by staff following patient contact in an intensive care unit. *Australian Critical Care* 1995;**8**(2):8–13.

Van de Mortel 2000 {published data only}

Van de Mortel T, Bourke R, Fillipi L, McLoughlin J, Molihan C, Nonu M, et al.Maximising handwashing rates in the critical care unit through yearly performance feedback. *Australian Critical Care* 2000;**13**(3):91–5.

Van de Mortel 2006 {published data only}

Van de Mortel T, Murgo M. An examination of covert observation and solution sudit as tools to measure the success of hand hygiene interventions. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2006;**34**:95–9.

Venkatesh 2008 {published data only}

Venkatesh AK, Lankford MG, Rooney DM, Blachford T, Watts CM, Noskin GA. The use of electronic alerts to enhance hand hygiene compliance and decrease transmission of vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus in a haematology unit. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2008;**36**:199–205.

Wharton 2006 {published data only}

Wharton EM, Platt AJ. Can we improve hand hygiene on ward rounds?. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2006;**64**:400–1.

Whitby 2004 {published data only}

Whitby M, McLaws ML. Handwashing in healthcare workers: accessibility of sink location does not improve compliance. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2004;**58**(4): 247–53. [MEDLINE: 15564000]

Widmer 2007 {published data only}

Widmer AF, Conzelmann M, Tomic Frei R, Stranden AM. Introducing alcohol-based hand rub for hand hygiene: the critical need for training. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2007;**28**:50–4.

Won 2004 {published data only}

Won SP, Chou HC, Hsieh WS, Chen CY, Huang SM, Tsou KI, et al.Handwashing program for the prevention of nosocomial infections in a neonatal intensive care unit. *Infecton Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2004;**25**(9): 742–6.

Xue 2008 {published data only}

Xue, Xm kang Y, Liao Y. Efficacy of intensive hand hygiene for controlling methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Chinese Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy* 2008;**8**:60-2 (abstract in English).

Zingg 2009 {published data only}

Zingg W, Imhof A, Maggiorini M, Stoker R, Keller E, Ruef C. Impact of a prevention strategy targeting hand hygiene and catheter care on the incidence of catheter-related bloodstream infections. *Critical Care Medicine* 2009;**372**: 2167–73.

Additional references

Ballini 2010

Ballini L, Bero L, Eccles MP, Grimshaw J, Gruen RL, Lewin S, et al.Cochrane Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group. *About The Cochrane Collaboration (Cochrane Review Groups (CRGs))* 2010;**Issue 3**(Art. No.: EPOC).

Gould 2007

Gould DJ, Moralejo D, Drey NS, Chudleigh J. Measuring hand washing performance in health service audits and research studies. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2007;**66**: 109–15.

Grimshaw 2004

Grimshaw J, Eccles M, Tetroe J. Implementing clinical guidelines: current evidence and future implications. *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions* 2004;**24**:S31–S37.

Haas 2007

Haas JP, Larson EL. Measurement of compliance with hand hygiene. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2007;**66**(1):6–14.

Hospital Infection Society 2007

Hospital Infection Society, Infection Control Nurses Association. Summary of preliminary results of *The Third Prevalence Survey of Healthcare Associated Infections in Acute Hospitals* (for England) (2006). www.his.org.uk/ 2007.

Jamtvedt 2006

Jamtvedt G, Young JM, Kristofferson DT, O'Brien MA, Oxman AD. Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2006, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD000259.pub2]

Klevens 2007

Klevens RM, Edwards JR, Richards CL. Estimating health care-associated infections and deaths in US hospitals 2002. *Public Health Report* 2007;**122**(2):160–6.

Kotler 1971

Kotler P, Zaltman G. Social marketing: an approach to planned social change. *Journal of Marketing* 1971;**35**:3–12.

Naikoba 2001

Naikoba S, Hayward A. The effectiveness of interventions aimed at increasing handwashing in healthcare workers - a systematic review. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2001;47(3): 173–80.

National Audit Office 1998

National Audit Office. *The management and control of hospital-acquired infection in acute NHS trusts in England.* London: National Audit Office, 1998.

Pittet 2004

Pittet D. The Lowbury lecture: behaviour in infection control. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2004;**58**(1):1–13.

Ramsay 2003

Ramsay CR, Matowe L, Griili R, Grimshaw JM, Thomas RE. Interrupted time series designs in health technology assessment: lessons from two systematic reviews of behavior

change strategies. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care* 2003;**19**(4):613–23.

Roethlisberger 1939

Roethlisberger, Fritz Jules. *Management and the worker; and account of a research program conducted by the Western electric company, Hawthorne works, Chicago.* Harvard University Press. Cambridge, 1939.

Teare 1999

Teare EL, Cookson B, French GL, Jenner EA, Scott G, Pallett A, Gould D, Schweiger M, Wilson J, Stone S. UK handwashing initiative. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 1999; **43**(1):1–3.

Widmer 2008

Widmer AF, Rotter M. Effectiveness of alcohol-based hand hygiene gels in reducing nosocomial infection. *Infection*

Control and Hospital Epidemiology 2008;29:576.

Zoutman 2003

Zoutman DE, Ford DB, Bryce E, Gourdeau M, Herbert G, Henderson E, et al. The state of infection surveillance and control in Canadian acute care hospitals. *Journal of Infection Control* 2003;**31**(5):266–73.

References to other published versions of this review

Gould 2007

Gould D, Chudleigh JH, Moralejo D, Drey N. Interventions to improve hand hygiene compliance in patient care. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005186.pub3]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Gould 1997

Methods	Design: CBA Duration: 3 months baseline and 3 months post-intervention
Participants	UK Nurses on 4 general surgical wards
Interventions	Single teaching session: hand hygiene, universal precautions
Outcomes	% frequency of hand washes after high risk activities
Notes	Intervention not successful at 3 months Also evaluated knowledge of infection control, observed glove use, and observed handling of used needles

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	High risk	CBA study, not done
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	High risk	CBA study, not done
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Unclear in paper, but confirmed through personal communication with author
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Data was only collected from 31 of 50 nurses; attrition or lost to follow-up rates were similar in both groups but not speci- fied if characteristics of dropouts were sim- ilar
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Unclear risk	No published protocol, unable to deter- mine
Other bias	Low risk	No other biases identified
Baseline outcomes	Low risk	Data reported as similar between 2 groups
Baseline characteristics	Unclear risk	Characteristics mentioned as similar in text but no data were presented

Protection from contamination	Unclear risk	Control group likely did not get interven- tion but intervention group members did not receive all intended education
Huang 2002		
Methods	Design: RCT Duration: 4 months post-intervention	
Participants	People's Republic of China Nurses throughout a hospital	
Interventions	Education, mainly universal precautions	
Outcomes	% of nurses washing hands before and after patient contact	
Notes	Intervention successful after 4 months Also evaluated knowledge scores, prevalence of Hepatitis B immunization, self reported behaviours related to bloodborne pathogens and universal precautions, self reported needlestick and sharps injury, and observed behaviours related to handling used needles.	

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not specified
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not specified
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Not specified
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	98% follow-up achieved
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Unclear risk	No published protocol
Other bias	Unclear risk	The outcome measure, percent of nurses who performed hand hygiene during the 30 minutes of observation, was not clearly described in terms of whether hand hygiene was performed each time it was required or if it was just performed at any time during the observation period. It is possible that ac- tual adherence was overestimated, although

Huang 2002 (Continued)

		this would apply equally to both groups and not affect the difference between the groups.	
Baseline outcomes	Low risk	Similar scores for both groups	
Baseline characteristics	Low risk	Similar scores for both groups	
Protection from contamination	Unclear risk	No description of protection against con- tamination	
Vernaz 2008			
Methods	Design: ITS Duration: February 2000 to September 2006		
Participants	Switzerland Healthcare workers throughout hospital		
Interventions	Social marketing campaign (VigiGerme®) in 2003 and <i>Clean Care is Safer Care</i> campaign in 2005		
Outcomes	Volume of hand hygiene products (litres per 100 patient-days)		
Notes	Both interventions successful for short-term increase in hand hygiene Also measured new MRSA isolates per 100 patient-days, new <i>C. difficile i</i> solates per 100 patient-days, defined daily dose of antibiotics per 100 patient-days		

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Number of subjects not specified
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Unclear risk	No protocol published, unable to deter- mine
Other bias	Low risk	No other biases identified
Intervention independent	High risk	MRSA/C. <i>difficile</i> control policies and Contact Precautions were implemented at the same time
Shape of effect pre-specified	Low risk	Point of analysis same as point of interven- tion
Intervention had no effect on data collec- tion	Low risk	Data collection not associated with inter- vention

Vernaz 2008 (Continued)

Protection from contamination	High risk	Subjects were aware of intervention	
Whitby 2008			
Methods	Design: ITS Duration: Each intervention took place ov	er a 2 year period	
Participants	Australia All healthcare workers in multiple units		
Interventions	3 separate interventions: 1) Simple substitutions: ABHR for soap, a 2) Geneva campaign 3) Washington campaign	 Simple substitutions: ABHR for soap, and one type of ABHR for another Geneva campaign 	
Outcomes	Product use (hand hygiene events per occu	Product use (hand hygiene events per occupied-bed days)	
Notes	Intervention successful for Geneva and Wa	Intervention successful for Geneva and Washington campaigns	

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Number of subjects not specified
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Unclear risk	No evidence of protocol published, unable to determine
Other bias	Unclear risk	Unclear how group differences (e.g. char- acteristics of patients) may have impacted outcome for wards receiving Geneva inter- vention
Intervention independent	Low risk	No other changes identified
Shape of effect pre-specified	Low risk	Point of analysis same as point of interven- tion
Intervention had no effect on data collec- tion	Low risk	Data collection not associated with inter- vention
Protection from contamination	High risk	Subjects aware of intervention

ABHR: alcohol-based hand rub

C: clostridium

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Apisarnthananarak 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design
Assanasen 2008	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points
Avila-Aguero 1998	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.
Baker 1998	Uncontrolled before and after study design
Barchitta 2008	No hand hygiene outcome data presented
Bellis 2006	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points
Berg 1995	Uncontrolled before and after study design
Berhe 2006	Uncontrolled before and after design
Bhojani 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design
Bhutta 2007	No hand hygiene outcome data presented
Bischoff 2000	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.
Bittner 2002	Controlled before and after study design with one nonequivalent control group.
Brown 2003	Uncontrolled before and after study design
Cantrell 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design
Capretti 2008	No hand hygiene outcome data presented
Chan 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design, no baseline data
Chimango 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design
Christiaens 2009	Interrupted time series design with less than three data entry points after the intervention.
Coghill 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design
Coignard 1998	Uncontrolled before and after study design

Colombo 2002	Controlled before and after study design with one nonequivalent control group.		
Conly 1989	Interrupted time series design with less than three data entry points before/after each intervention.		
Creedon 2005	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Creedon 2006	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Cromer 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design		
das Neves 2006	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Diekema 1995	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Diersson-Sotos 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Donowitz 1986	Interrupted time series design with less than three data entry points before/after each intervention.		
Dorsey 1996	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Dubbert 1990	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Duerink 2006	Controlled before and after study, inadequate control, no baseline		
Duggan 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design, no baseline data		
Earl 2001	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Ebnother 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Eckmanns 2006	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Eldridge 2006	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points		
Elola-Vicente 2008	Hand hygiene was assessed during simulation and in an artificial setting not involving real patients		
Giannitsioti 2009	Controlled clinical trial, inadequate control		
Golan 2006	Crossover trial with only one intervention group and one control group		
Gopal Rao 2009	No hand hygiene outcome data presented		
Graham 1990	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Grayson 2008	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points		

Haas 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Harbarth 2002	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
Harrington 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Hon 2008	Hand hygiene was assessed in an artificial setting not involving real patients		
Howard 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design, no baseline data		
Huang 2006	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points		
Huang 2008	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points		
Hughes 1986	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Hugonnet 2002	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
Hussein 2007	Uncontrolled before and after study		
Khatib 1999	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
Kohli 2009	Controlled clinical trial, inadequate control		
Kusachi 2006	No hand hygiene outcome data presented		
Lam 2004	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Larson 1991	Controlled before and after study design with one nonequivalent control group.		
Larson 1997	Controlled before and after study design with one nonequivalent control group.		
Larson 2000	Controlled before and after study design with one nonequivalent control group.		
Larson 2007	No clear intervention		
Lausten 2009a	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Lausten 2009b	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Lee 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Macdonald 2006	Hand hygiene was assessed during simulation		

Madani 2006	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points		
Marena 2002	No control group for intervention of interest		
Marra 2008	Controlled clinical trial, no baseline data, inadequate control		
Maury 2000	Limited or no baseline data		
Mayer 1986	Controlled before and after study design with one nonequivalent control group.		
McDonald 2007	No hand hygiene outcome data presented		
McGuckin 1999	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
McGuckin 2004	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
McGuckin 2006	Uncontrolled before and after design		
McLaws 2009	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points		
Milward 2007	Hand hygiene was assessed in an artificial setting not involving real patients		
Miyachi 2007	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points		
Moongtui 1999	Data pertaining to hand hygiene were not presented separately from data related to universal precautions		
Moore 1980	No data were presented		
Muto 2000	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Muto 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design, no baseline data		
Nouira 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Panhotra 2004	Limited or no baseline data		
Pessoa-Siilva 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Picheansathian 2008	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points		
Pittet 2000	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
Prieto 2005	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Raju 1991	Interrupted time series design with less than three data entry points before/after each intervention.		

Randle 2006	Uncontrolled before and after design, no baseline data		
Raskind 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Roberts 2009	No hand hygiene outcome data presented		
Rose 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Rosenthal 2003	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
Rosenthal 2008	Uncontrolled before after design; amalgamated data from 18 countries, no control groups		
Rummukainen 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Rupp 2008	Crossover trial with only one intervention group and one control group		
Rykkje 2007	Hand hygiene data collected by self-report		
Sacar 2006	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Salemi 2002	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Sanchez-Paya 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Santana 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Schneider 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Shaw 2003	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Siegel 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Simmons 1990	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
Snow 2006	No clear intervention		
Souweine 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Stone 2007	Reported only baseline data, no follow-up data		
Suchitra 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Suresh 2007	No hand hygiene outcome data presented		

Swoboda 2004	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
Swoboda 2007	Uncontrolled before and after study design, reanalysis of previous data		
Tenias 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Thomas 2005	Limited or no baseline data		
Thomas 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Thu 2007	No hand hygiene outcome data presented		
Tibbals 1996	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
Traore 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Trick 2007	Controlled before and after study, inadequate control		
Van de Mortel 1995	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Van de Mortel 2000	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Van de Mortel 2006	Interrupted time series study, inadequate data collection points		
Venkatesh 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Wharton 2006	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Whitby 2004	Uncontrolled before and after study design with sequential addition of new intervention(s) but limited data collection after each addition.		
Widmer 2007	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Won 2004	Uncontrolled before and after study design		
Xue 2008	Uncontrolled before and after design		
Zingg 2009	Uncontrolled before and after design		

DATA AND ANALYSES

This review has no analyses.

APPENDICES

Appendix I. Additional Search Strategies

Original Search Strategy

We searched MEDLINE from 1980 to July 2006 using the following search strategy:

- 1. HAND HYGIENE or HAND WASHING
- 2. ((#1 and EDUCATION) or KNOWLEDGE)
- 3. (#1 and HEALTH PROMOTION)
- 4. (#1 and AUDIT)
- 5. (#1 and COMPLIANCE)
- 6. (#1 and PRODUCT AVAILABILITY)

(#1 and CROSS INFECTION or NOSOCOMIAL INFECTION) or HOSPITAL ACQUIRED INFECTION or HEALTH-CARE ASSOCIATED INFECTION)

Search strategy for other databases **Evidence-Based Medicine Reviews** EBM Reviews is a collection of four databases related to evidence-based medicine: ACP Journal Club Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews Database of Abstracts of Views of Effects (DARE) Date 15/10/2009 Search for: from 13 [limit 12 to yr="2005 Current" [Limit not valid in DARE; records were retained]] keep 1-96 Results: 1-96 Database: All EBM Reviews Search Strategy: handwashing.sh. (178) 1 2 handwash\$.tx. (21) 3 hand wash\$.tx. (38) 4 hand disinfection.tx. (3) 5 hand hygiene.tx. (20) 6 surgical scrub\$.tx. (7) 7 hand decontamination.mp. [mp=ti, to, ab, tx, kw, ct, sh, hw] (4) 8 hand cleansing.mp. [mp=ti, to, ab, tx, kw, ct, sh, hw] (11) 9 hand cleaning.mp. [mp=ti, to, ab, tx, kw, ct, sh, hw] (2) 10 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 (249) 11 from 10 keep 1-249 (249)

- 12 10 (249)
- 13 limit 12 to yr="2005 Current" [Limit not valid in DARE; records were retained] (96)
- 14 from 13 keep 1-96 (96)
- 15 from 14 keep 1-96 (96)

British Nursing Index BNI

Search for: limit 12 to last 5 years (June 2005 to may 2010) Results: 1-89

Database: EBM Reviews Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews <2005 to May 2010> Search Strategy:

- 1 handwash\$.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (21)
- 2 hand wash\$.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (27)
- 3 hand antisepsis.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (5)
- 4 hand disinfection.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (6)
- 5 hand hygiene.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (19)
- 6 hand decontamination.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (1)
- 7 hand cleansing.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (0)
- 8 hand cleaning.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (0)
- 9 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 (48)
- 10 hand.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (2288)
- 11 sterilization.vo,yr,ti,ip,hw,an,ab,sh,au,jn,af,up,is,jx. (49)
- 12 9 or 11 (93)
- 13 limit 12 to last 5 years (89)
- 14 from 13 keep 1-89 (89)

Additional Search Strategy

- 1. Handwashing/ [ML]
- 2. (handwash\$ or hand hygiene or handrub\$ or hand rub\$).ti,ab.
- 3. (hand? adj2 (clean\$ or decontaminat\$ or disinfect\$ or hygiene or hygienic\$ or saniti\$ or sterili\$ or wash\$)).ti,ab.
- 4. (hand\$ adj3 (alcohol\$ or propanol\$ or ethanol\$)).ti,ab.
- 5. (hand\$ adj scrub\$).ti,ab.
- 6. (antisepsis/ or sterilization/ or disinfection/) and Hand/ [ML]
- 7. (hand? adj2 (aseps\$ or aseptic\$ or antisep\$)).ti,ab.
- 8. ((surgery or surgical) adj2 (scrub\$ or rub\$)).ti,ab.
- 9. or/1-8 [Hand Hygiene]

10. Cross Infection/pc [Prevention & Control]

- 11. Infectious Disease Transmission, Professional-to-Patient/
- 12. (health care associated infection? or healthcare associated infection?).ti,ab.
- 13. (nosocomial adj2 (infection? or disease?)).ti,ab.
- 14. ((hospital or icu or intensive care) adj2 acquired adj2 infection?).ti,ab.
- 15. or/10-14 [HAI/Nosocomial infection]
- 16. Infection Control/ 17. (infection and (control\$ or prevent\$)).ti.
- 19. Universal Precautions/ or universal precautions.ti,ab.
- 20. or/16-17,19 [Infection Control]
- 22. 15 and 20 [HAI & Infect Control]
- 24. 9 or 22 [HH or HAI/Nosocomial Infect Control]

WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 2 August 2010.

Date	Event	Description
7 July 2011	Amended	Minor edits

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 4, 2004

Review first published: Issue 2, 2007

Date	Event	Description
3 August 2010	New citation required but conclusions have not changed	Two new studies added, no change in conclusions. Review now includes risk of bias table for all included studies and new searches up to November 2009. Review author order has been revised to reflect contribution for this update.
3 August 2010	New search has been performed	New search, screening, two new studies included
24 June 2008	Amended	Converted to new review format.
7 February 2007	New citation required and conclusions have changed	Substantive amendment

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

JC and ND were responsible for the initial and updated searches, respectively. Papers were reviewed by DJG, DM and ND for both reviews, and JC also reviewed papers in the initial review. ND or DM acted as arbitrator in cases of disagreement. DJG and DM compiled the final report.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

DJG co-authored one of the studies included in this review.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

- City Hospital, London, UK.
- Memorial University School of Nursing, St John's, Canada.

External sources

• Department of Health Cochrane Review Incentive Scheme 2005 and 2010, UK.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Health Personnel; Clostridium Infections [prevention & control]; Clostridium difficile; Cross Infection [*prevention & control]; Handwashing [*standards]; Infectious Disease Transmission, Professional-to-Patient [*prevention & control]; Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus; Staphylococcal Infections [prevention & control]

MeSH check words

Humans